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I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


At the core of this appeal is a clear and unambiguous statute that grants broad authority to 

the Tax Commissioner to penalize tobacco product distributors, stamping agents, or any other 

person that distributes tobacco products in West Virginia not appearing on the West Virginia 

Directory of Cigarette Brands Approved for Stamping and Sale. Despite the lengthy recitation of 

facts offered in Ashland Specialty's brief to this Court, this matter involves very few facts that 

are relevant to the ultimate issue. The only dispositive fact is that Ashland Specialty admittedly 

sold cigarettes in West Virginia that did not appear on the West Virginia Directory of Cigarette 

Brands Approved for Stamping and Sale. This central fact is uncontroverted. See Petitioner's 

Brief, pgs. 3,4, and 5. Specifically, Ashland Specialty admits that it "sold 1,210 cartons (12,210 

packs) of GP/Galaxy Pro cigarettes and 2 cartons (20 packs) of Berley cigarettes during June 

through September 2009, a time when those brands were not on the List." Id Ashland Specialty 

further admits that it distributed non-approved brands on two prior occasions. See Petitioner's 

Brief, pg. 4. 

The following additional facts and procedural history will assist the Court m its 

consideration of this case: 

A. Statement of Facts 

Ashland Specialty Company, Inc. is a Kentucky corporation that provides inventory 

including tobacco products to convenience stores in West Virginia. R. at 194. The entity has had 

a West Virginia license to stamp and sell cigarettes since 1989. R. at 416,417,418. 

West Virginia statutory law, as detailed infra, requires the Tax Commissioner to maintain 

an online directory that contains the manufacturer name and brand names of all cigarettes 



authorized for sale in the State of West Virginia. See W.Va. Code § 16-9D-3(b) and R. at 194. 

Under the authority of West Virginia Code § 16-9D-4a, cigarette brands placed on the directory 

must meet numerous certification requirements pertaining to ownership, manufacturing location, 

federal permits, packaging, ingredient reporting, warning labels, etc. R. at 202. Pursuant to West 

Virginia Code § 16-9D-3(c), it is unlawful to stamp or sell cigarettes not on the directory 

maintained by the Tax Commissioner. As explained in more detail infra, the Tax Commissioner 

is afforded broad discretion in determining the penalty for violations which may include 

suspending the business registration certificate and/or imposing civil penalties. R. at 194. 

Prior to the penalty assessment at issue in this appeal, the taxpayer has been twice 

penalized for selling non-approved cigarette brands. R. at 194. A Tax Department auditor 

testified at the administrative hearing that directory violations are "rare." R at 551. However, in a 

previous audit for the period of January 1, 2001 through November 30, 2003, the Tax 

Department assessed Ashland Specialty a civil penalty for selling 56 cartons of cigarettes in 

violation of West Virginia Code § 16-9D-3. This penalty was assessed at 500 percent of the 

retail value of the cigarettes. R. at 195. In a second audit for the period of May 1, 2005 through 

February 29, 2008, the Tax Department assessed Ashland Specialty a civil money penalty for 

selling 62 cartons of non-approved cigarette brands in violation of West Virginia Code § 16-9D

3. The penalty assessed after this audit was also 500 percent of the retail value of the cigarettes. 

R. at 195. Ashland Specialty did not appeal the previous penalty assessments. See Petitioner's 

Brief, pg. 4. 

In 2012, an auditor with the West Virginia State Tax Department performed a third audit 

of Ashland Specialty reviewing its books and records regarding cigarette sales and discovered 
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that it had again sold cigarettes that were no longer listed in the directory of approved brands. 

Specifically, during the period of June to September of 2009, Ashland Specialty sold 12,210 

packs of Galaxy/Galaxy Pro cigarettes and twenty packs of Berley cigarettes when those brands 

were not on the approved list. R. at 195. 

On August 3, 2012, an Audit Notice of Assessment in the amount of $159,398.00 was 

issued by the West Virginia State Tax Department against Ashland Specialty. This assessment 

was issued for the time period of June 30, 2009 through May 31, 2012. This assessment 

consisted entirely of a civil money penalty of $159,398.00. As in its past audits, the penalty 

imposed was 500 percent of the retail value of the cigarettes. R. at 195. 

Contrary to Ashland Specialty's assertion, its failure to have a system in place which 

prevented the sale of de-listed cigarettes was not beyond its control. R. at 195. Furthermore, 

compliance with the directory statute is the responsibility of the taxpayer. See W.Va. Code § 16

9D-3(b)(3) and R. at 196. 

B. Procedural History 

On October 3, 2012, Ashland Specialty filed a Petition for Reassessment with the Office 

of Tax Appeals. R. at 193. A hearing on the Petition was conducted at OTA on August 27,2013. 

By an administrative decision dated August 18, 2014, OTA reduced the $159,398.00 penalty 

assessment to $119,548.50. R. at 193. 

The Tax Commissioner filed a Petition for Appeal in Kanawha County Circuit Court on 

October 17, 2014. The case (Civil Action No. 14-AA-102) was assigned to Judge Carrie 

Webster. Also on October 17,2014, Ashland Specialty appealed the OTA decision to the Circuit 

Court of Cabell County where it was assigned to the Honorable Christopher D. Chiles (Civil 
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Action No. 14-C-7S9). In Cabell County Circuit Court, Ashland Specialty filed a Motion to 

Transfer and Consolidate seeking to transfer the Tax Commissioner's Kanawha County action 

and consolidate it with Ashland Specialty's appeal pending in Cabell County. However, the 

Cabell County Circuit Court, following an in-chambers conference, ordered that the Cabell 

County case be transferred to Kanawha County. The transferred appeal was subsequently 

assigned to Kanawha County Circuit Judge Tod Kaufman (Civil Action No. IS-AA-SS). R. at 

193. 

On October 22, 20 IS, the parties in this matter filed a Joint Motion to transfer Civil Action 

No. IS-AA-5S pending before Judge Kaufman and consolidate it with Civil Action No. 14-AA

102 pending before Judge Webster. Meanwhile, on October 28, 201S, Judge Kaufman dismissed 

Civil Action IS-AA-S5 on the basis that it was a duplicate filing. R. at 193. 

On April 11, 2017, Judge Webster issued an order overturning the deci~ion of OTA and 

reinstating the original penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner. Judge Webster's decision 

addressed the assignments of error raised in both appeals. Specifically, the Circuit Court reversed 

OTA's reduction of the Tax Commissioner's penalty assessment and reinstated the original 

penalty. The Petitioner brings this appeal seeking an elimination of the penalty or, in the 

alternative, a greater reduction of the penalty than ordered by OTA. 

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

At the heart of this appeal is a clear and unambiguous statute giving broad power to the 

Tax Commissioner to penalize entities and persons that distribute tobacco products in West 

Virginia not appearing on the West Virginia Directory of Cigarette Brands Approved for 

Stamping and Sale. In its appeal to this Court and in the record below, three-time violator 
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Ashland Specialty repeatedly admits that it sold non-approved cigarette brands. See Petitioner's 

Brief, pgs. 3, 4 and 5. In light of these undisputed sales, the Tax Commissioner had broad 

discretion pursuant West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a) to impose a civil penalty upon Ashland 

Specialty. The statutorily prescribed penalties include (1) assessing a monetary penalty of up to 

500 percent of the retail price of the unauthorized cigarettes; or (2) assessing a penalty of $5,000 

for each pack of unauthorized cigarettes that is sold; or (3) suspending or revoking the seller's 

business registration certificate; or (4) imposing a combination of the penalties authorized by 

statute. See W.Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a). Given the statutorily prescribed penalties, the Tax 

Commissioner acted within his discretion in imposing a 500 percent penalty in the amount of 

$159,398.00. Contrary to Ashland Specialty's repeated assertion that it was subjected to the 

maximum potential penalty, the imposed assessment was exponentially less than the maximum 

monetary penalty contemplated by statute, which would have resulted in a penalty in excess of 

$61 million. Furthermore, the imposed penalty did not revoke Ashland Specialty's business 

registration certificate and corresponding ability to distribute cigarettes in West Virginia. 

The Circuit's Court reinstatement of the original penalty should be upheld by this Court 

because OTA's reduction of the original penalty assessment had no basis. The Tax 

Commissioner's position is based on the substantial evidence in the record reflecting Ashland 

Specialty's repeated failures to ensure that only listed cigarettes are sold in the State of West 

Virginia. Ashland Specialty ignores applicable law in interjecting non-relevant facts in an effort 

to mitigate the consequences of its distribution ofnon-approved brands. Furthermore, the penalty 

imposed is within the statutory parameters and any argument that the statutory penalty is 

unconstitutional lacks a legal basis. Ashland Specialty's argument that it was deprived of due 
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process additionally lacks merits as it was given a full and fair opportunity to pursue an appeal at 

all levels. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Tax Commissioner requests oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the Revised Rules 

of Appellate Procedure. Rule 20 argument is appropriate as the Petitioner questions the 

constitutionality of penalties imposed consistent with West Virginia's tobacco directory statute. 

The Petitioner's appeal also involves issues of fundamental public importance because the 

Petitioner has requested an abatement or drastic reduction of a penalty, an action which would be 

counterproductive to the intended purpose of the directory statute enacted to "safeguard the 

master settlement agreement [payments], the fiscal soundness of the state, and the public health." 

W.Va. Code § 16-9D-1. 

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The standard of review on appeal is well-settled. The issue before this Court is a legal 

question, which is subject to de novo review. See SyI. pt. 1, In re Tax Assessment Against 

American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P., 208 W. Va. 250, 539 S.E.2d 757 (2000). "An 

inquiring court-even a court empowered to conduct de novo review-must examine a regulatory 

interpretation of a statute by standards that include appropriate deference to agency expertise and 

discretion." Id. at 582. Furthermore, "[i]nterpretations of statutes by bodies charged with their 

administration are given great weight unless clearly erroneous." SyI. pt. 4, Security Nat. Bank & 

Trust Co. v. First W. Va. Bancorp, Inc., 166 W.Va. 775, 277 S.E.2d 613 (1981). 

This Court reviews the decisions of a circuit court, when the latter was sitting as an 

appellate court, under the same standard by which a circuit court is required to review the 
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decision of the lower tribunal or administrative agency in the first instance. Martin v. Randolph 

Cnty. Bd ofEduc., 195 W.Va. 297, 304, 465 S.E.2d 399, 406 (1995). 

West Virginia Code § ll-lOA-19(f) provides that appeals from OTA shall be governed 

by the standards set forth in the Administrative Procedures Act. Specifically, West Virginia 

Code § 29A-5-4(g) provides that: 

(g) The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the 
case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or 
decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or 
petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, 
inferences, conclusions, decision or order are: 

(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or 

(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or 

(3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or 


,(4) Affected by other error of law; or 


(5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial 
evidence on the whole record; or 

(6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or 
clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. 

V. ARGUMENT 

The parties agree that OTA's reduction of the Tax Commissioner's penalty assessment 

was erroneous. However, the parties disagree regarding the reinstatement of the Tax 

Commissioner's original penalty. Faced with the parties' disagreement, the Circuit Court 

reinstated the penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner. The Circuit Court's reversal of the 

OT A decision and its reinstatement of the original penalty was consistent with all applicable 

legal authority and should be affirmed. 
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Before addressing the specific assignments of error asserted by Ashland Specialty, it is 

important to examine the content and purpose of the relevant statutes. The statutes at the core of 

this matter result from the Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement ("MSA"). In 1998, four of the 

largest tobacco product manufacturers and forty-six states entered into the MSA to settle 

litigation brought by the states to recoup health care expenses resulting from cigarette smoking. 

See W.Va. Code § 16-9B-1. In 1999, the West Virginia Legislature required tobacco product 

manufacturers who did not join the MSA and whose cigarettes are sold in West Virginia to make 

annual deposits into escrow accounts to cover health care expenses resulting from cigarette 

smoking. Id. 

In 2003, the legislature enacted "Complementary Legislation" to strengthen the Escrow 

Statute. The legislature found "that enacting procedural enhancements will help prevent 

violations and aid enforcement of article nine-b of this chapter and thereby safeguard the master 

settlement agreement [payment], the fiscal soundness of the state, and the public health." W.Va. 

Code § 16-9D-1. In order to protect its annual settlement payment, the State of West Virginia 

must diligently enforce the statutes implementing the MSA. A successful challenge to West 

Virginia'S diligent enforcement by manufacturers that signed the settlement could result in West 

Virginia losing a portion of its annual payment. 

The Complementary Legislation statute ultimately enacted by West Virginia is molded 

after multi-state Model Legislation and is substantially similar to statutes enacted by the other 

states. See e.g. Ala. Code §§ 6-12A-I-7, Ariz. Rev Stat. Ann. § 44-7111, Ark. Code. Ann. §§ 26

57-1301-1308, Cal. Rev. & Tax Code § 30165.1, Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. §§ 4-28k-r, D.C. Code 

Ann. §§ 7-1803.01-07, Ga. Code Ann. §§ 10-13A-I-9, Kan. Stat. Ann. §§ 50-6a04; 50-6a07
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6a021, Ky. Rev. Stat. §§ 131.606-131.630, La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 13:5071-5077, Mich. Compo 

Laws §§ 205.426 c-d, 205.427, Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 69-2704-2711, Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 69-2704

2711, Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 370.600-705, N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 541-D:1-9, N.J. Stat. Ann. §§ 

52:4D-4-12, N.C. Gen. Stat.§§ 66-292-294.1, Okla. Stat. tit. 68, §§ 360.1-9, S.C. Code Ann. 

§§ 11-48-10-110, Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 67-4-2601-2607, Va. Code Ann. §§ 3.2-4204-4219, 

Wyo. Stat. Ann. §§ 9-4-1205-1210, P.R. Laws Ann. tit. 24, §§ 15005-15010. One of the key 

components of the Complementary Legislation was the creation of a directory of approved . 

brands with penalties for selling cigarettes not appearing in the directory. West Virginia Code § 

16-9D-3(c) specifically provides that "[i]t is unlawful for any person ... [t]o sell, offer, or possess 

for sale in this state, cigarettes of tobacco product manufacturer or family brand not included in 

the directory." 

When a violation of West Virginia Code § 16-9D-3(c) occurs because cigarettes not on 

the directory are sold, the Tax Commissioner has multiple actions he may undertake. Pursuant to 

West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a), the Tax Commissioner may "[i]n addition to or in lieu of any 

other civil or criminal remedy provided by law .... revoke or suspend the business registration 

certificate of the distributor, stamping agent or other person." W.Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a). The 

Code further provides that the Commissioner may "impose a civil penalty in an amount not to 

exceed the greater of five hundred percent of the retail value of the cigarettes or five thousand 

dollars ... " for each violation with each sale of a pack of cigarettes constituting a separate 

violation. See W.Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a). Thus, the plain language allows the Tax Commissioner 

to penalize businesses or persons who sell unauthorized cigarettes by: (1) assessing a monetary 

penalty of up to 500 percent of the retail price of the unauthorized cigarettes; or (2) assessing a 
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penalty of $5,000 for each pack of unauthorized cigarettes that is sold; andlor (3) suspending or 

revoking the seller's business registration certificate; or (4) imposing a combination of the 

penalties authorized by statute. 

A. 	 The Circuit Court of Kanawha County correctly concluded that the 
Tax Commissioner did not abuse his discretion by assessing the 500 
percent monetary penalty against Ashland Specialty which repeatedly 
sold delisted cigarettes. 

In contrast to the first assignment of error asserted by the Petitioner, the Circuit Court 

properly concluded that the Commissioner did not abuse his discretion in assessing a 500 percent 

penalty against it for its admitted sale of delisted cigarettes. Furthermore, the Circuit Court acted 

within the confines of applicable statutory law when it declined to consider irrelevant facts that 

Ashland Specialty asserted should mitigate its penalty. As a repeat offender, Ashland Specialty 

essentially asserts that the penalty for its third and more sizeable infraction should be less than 

the previous penalties imposed or entirely abated. Petitioner's Brief, pg. 34. 

Ashland Specialty focuses its first assignment of error on footnoted language in Gentry v. 

Mangum, which has a fact pattern inapposite to this appeal. Gentry, 195 W.Va. 512,466 S.E.2d 

171 (1995). The matter on appeal is a challenge to a civil penalty imposed within the parameters 

of statutory law. Meanwhile, the Gentry case involved an evidentiary issue in a personal injury 

suit. Gentry footnoted that "an abuse of discretion occurs when a material factor deserving 

_significant weight is ignored, when an improper factor is relied upon, or when all proper and no 

improper factors are assessed but the circuit court makes a serious mistake in weighing them." 

Id at n.6. What the Petitioner has alleged as mitigating factors are not material factors given the 

strict liability imposed by the applicable statute. 
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The Petitioner's additional arguments and case citations obscure the pure legal question 

which is before this Court. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tax Commissioner's decision to 

assess a civil penalty falling within the parameters contemplated by statute must be accepted as 

valid because the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis. See 

Syllabus point 3, In re Queen, 196 W.Va. 442, 473 S.E. 2d 483 (1996). R. at 200. 

There is no question that Ashland Specialty sold unauthorized cigarettes in the State of 

West Virginia. The uncontroverted facts reflect that from January 1,2001 through November 30, 

2003, Ashland Specialty sold 56 cartons of cigarettes in violation of West Virginia Code § 16

9D-3. R. at 195. Thereafter, from May 1, 2005 through February 29, 2008, Ashland Specialty 

sold 62 cartons of cigarettes which were unauthorized for sale in this State in violation of West 

Virginia Code § 16-9D-3. Id. Furthermore, it is uncontested that for the time period of June to 

September of 2009, Ashland Specialty sold 1,223 cartons of non-approved cigarettes. Id. Thus, 

there is no dispute that Ashland Specialty may be penalized within the statutory parameters 

discussed. 

It is further undisputed that when violations were found in prior audits, the penalty 

assessed was 500 percent of the sales price of the cigarettes. Not until its third infraction did 

Ashland Specialty challenge this formula and argue that mitigating circumstances should reduce 

the consequences of its repeat offense. See Petitioner's Brief, pg. 4. 

As the Circuit Court concluded, Ashland Specialty is erroneous in repeatedly stating that 

the $159,398.00 assessment was the maximum allowable penalty. A simple reading of the 

applicable statute reveals that the Tax Commissioner had numerous penalty options and the 

imposed penalty was exponentially less than the maximum monetary penalty allowed by law. R. 
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at 199. The statute allows the Tax Commissioner to impose a penalty of $5,000 per violation 

with each pack of cigarettes constituting a separate violation. See W.Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a). As 

the Circuit Court held, the imposition of $5,000 per violation (12,230 x $5,000 = $61,150,000) 

would have resulted in a penalty in excess of $61 million dollars. R. at 199. 

West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a) further provides for the revocation of the entity's 

business registration certificate. The loss of Ashland Specialty's ability to do business in this 

State could have caused it'to suffer economic loss in excess of the $159,398.00 penalty assessed. 

Ashland Specialty admitted in its Circuit Court brief that it is "attracted by the carrot of the 

continued ability to legally sell cigarettes in West Virginia and serve customers there ... " See 

Supplemental Appendix at 16. This admission regarding the value of remaining in the West 

Virginia marketplace does not squarely fit with Ashland Specialty's repeated and inaccurate 

conclusion that it has been penalized to the maximum extent allowed by law. 

While Ashland Specialty admits that the word "may" in West Virginia Code § 16-9D

8(a) gives the Tax Commissioner discretion in selecting the penalty or penalties to impose, it 

nonetheless offers its preferred reading of the statute. Its reading fails to acknowledge that the 

Tax Commissioner may also assess a penalty of $5,000 for each pack of unauthorized cigarettes 

that are sold, suspend or revoke the seller's business registration certificate, or impose a 

combination of the penalties authorized by statute. Stated another way, Ashland Specialty omits 

that the penalty options that the Tax Commissioner "may" impose extend far beyond what it has 

inaccurately dubbed as the maximum allowable penalty. 

The relief requested by Ashland Specialty is not only inconsistent with West Virginia 

Code § 16-9D-9, which gives the Tax Commissioner discretion when imposing a penalty, it is' 
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also inconsistent with the directory statutes enacted in other states. The aforesaid statute is 

molded after multi-state Model Legislation and is substantially similar to statutes enacted by the 

other states. I Furthermore, no state has a statutory framework for the consideration of mitigating 

factors and/or willful neglect when assessing directory violation penalties. 

i. 	 When the directory statute is viewed in its entirety as opposed to the 
isolated portion relied upon by Ashland Specialty, the Tax 
Commissioner exercised appropriate discretion in assessing a 500 
percent penalty against it for its third admitted offense of distributing 
non-approved brands. 

Ashland Specialty's argument regarding the Tax Commissioner's alleged failure to 

exercise discretion in determining the 500 percent penalty is inconsistent with the statutory 

discretion given to the Tax Commissioner to ensure compliance with laws he is responsible for 

enforcing. See Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dept. of West Virginia, 195 W.Va. 573, 590, 

466 S.E.2d 424, 441 (1995). The Appalachian Power Court held that "[g]iven the competing 

policy concerns behind the statute and the industries affected, the language of the statute 

suggests the Legislature intended the Tax Commissioner to strike the appropriate balance of the 

goals of the statute ... " Id at 591, 442. Likewise, this Court has further held that "it is this 

Court's practice not to interfere with a sentence imposed within the legislatively prescribed 

limits, so long as the trial judge did not consider any impermissible factors." Syl. Pt. 4, State v. 

Goodnight, 169 W.Va. 366,287 S.E.2d 504 (1982). 

J See e.g, Ala. Code §§ 6-12A-I-7, Ariz. Rev Stat. Ann. § 44-7111, Ark. Code. Ann. §§ 26-57-1301-1308, Cal. 
Rev. & Tax Code § 30165.1, Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. §§ 4-28k-r, D.C. Code Ann. §§ 7-1803.01-07, Ga. Code Ann. 
§§ 10-13A-I-9, Kan. Stat. Ann. §§ 50-6a04; 50-6a07~a021, Ky. Rev. Stat. §§ 131.606-131.630, La. Rev. Stat. 
Ann. §§ 13:5071-5077, Mich. Compo Laws §§ 205.426 c-d, 205.427, Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 69-2704-2711, Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§ 69-2704-2711, Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 370.600-705, N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 541-0:1-9, N.J. Stat. Ann. §§ 
52:40-4-12, N.C. Gen. Stat.§§ 66-292-294.1, Okla. Stat. tit. 68, §§ 360.1-9, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 11-48-10-110, 
Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 67-4-2601-2607, Va. Code Ann. §§ 3.2-4204-4219, Wyo. Stat. Ann. §§ 9-4-1205-1210, P.R. 
Laws Ann. tit. 24, §§ 15005-15010. 
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This Court should conclude that the assessment of penalties for selling unapproved 

cigarette brands rests within the discretion of the Tax Commissioner who maintains the tobacco 

directory and who possesses expertise in the enforcement of MSA-related statutes. Furthermore, 

consistent with the Goodnight decision, this Court should not disturb the original penalty that 

was reinstated by the Circuit Court because the original penalty imposed by the Tax 

Commissioner was within the legislative parameters. Moreover, the uncontroverted evidence 

established that all entities selling unauthorized cigarettes receive the same penalty as Ashland 

Specialty. The Tax Commissioner's even-handed treatment must not be disturbed by a serial 

violator. 

The availability of other more stringent penalties further underscores that the Tax 

Commissioner exercised discretion when he imposed a penalty of $159,398.00. As the Circuit 

Court held, the reinstated penalty is "exponentially less than the maximum monetary penalty of 

$61 million and/or removal from the West Virginia marketplace." R. at 200. 

ii. 	 Ashland Specialty's admitted failure to comply with the directory statute 
cannot be mitigated. 

Ashland Specialty asserts that the Circuit Court erroneously viewed the 500 percent 

penalty as one of "strict liability" and declined to consider the alleged mitigating factors. In 

support of this argument, Ashland Specialty once again fails to cite to the entirety of the 

applicable statute. West Virginia Code § 16-9D-3(b)(3) places the burden upon the wholesaler to 

ensure that all packs of cigarettes are contained in the Tax Commissioner's directory. The 

aforesaid statutes make no mention of mitigating penalties for wholesaler confusion or any other 

reason. Rather, West Virginia Code § 16-9D-3(b)(3) states that "failure of the state to provide 
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notice of any addition to or removal from the directory shall not relieve the distributor or other 

stamping agent of its obligations under this article." For the reasons detailed below, the Circuit 

Court properly concluded that "Ashland's attempt to interject facts regarding its employee 

turnover and record keeping issues are irrelevant given the strict liability imposed upon entities 

that distributed non-approved cigarette brands" R. at 200. 

West Virginia § 16-9D-3(b)(3) places the taxpayer on notice that it is responsible for 

ensuring that the cigarettes it sells are authorized for sale. As the Circuit Court ruled, this portion 

of the statute makes a distributor strictly liable for its sale of cigarettes that do not appear in the 

Tax Commissioner's directory. R. at 200. If cigarettes are not on the directory, they cannot be 

lawfully sold in West Virginia. It is undisputable that unauthorized cigarettes were sold. 

Although Ashland Specialty asserts that a change in staffing and its confusion over which brands 

were approved should mitigate its penalty assessment, a taxpayer's failure to comply cannot be 

mitigated under the statute. Furthermore, contrary to its assertions to this Court, Ashland 

Specialty's failure to comply with the law was within its control because it was required to take 

steps to ensure its continued ability to sell cigarettes in West Virginia. 

iii. 	 There is no legal basis for an abatement of a penalty imposed pursuant 
to the directory statute and Ashland Specialty's al/eged mitigating 
factors are ofno avaiL 

Ashland Specialty argues that its penalty should be abated because it was not acting with 

willful neglect and it has shown reasonable cause for its distribution of non-approved brands. 

West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a) contains no willfulness requirement for assessing a penalty for 

selling non-approved cigarettes. The aforementioned statute further contains no language 

providing that penalties may be waived when a taxpayer shows reasonable cause. Conversely, in 
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other tax penalty statutes, the legislature was explicit that penalties be assessed in cases only 

where a taxpayer's noncompliance was shown to be willful. See W.Va. Code § 11-10-19. 

However, language requiring willfulness on the part of the taxpayer is conspicuously absent from 

the penalties imposed in West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a). When the legislature enacts a penalty 

provision in one statute and requires a finding of willful intent for the penalty's imposition, then 

conspicuously omits the same language from other penalty provision, the only conclusion is that 

the legislature did not intend for there to be an examination of the taxpayer's intent. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has held that "'courts must presume that a 

legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there.'" Martin v. 

Randolph County Board of Education, 195 W.Va. 297, 312, 465 S.E.2d 399, 414 (1995); see 

also Appalachian Power Co. at 586, 437 (1995). Furthermore, the legislature is presumed to be 

familiar with all laws it has created. See Charleston Gazette v. Smithers, 232 W.Va. 449, 752 

S.E.2d 603, 621 (2013). The legislature's omission of a willfulness requirement when crafting 

West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a) expresses its intent for the Tax Commissioner to impose 

penalties without regard to the taxpayer's intent. 

In support of its argument that the penalty should be waived in its entirety, Ashland 

Specialty cites to a West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals decision that is easily 

distinguishable. See United Fuel Gas Co. v. Battle, 167 S.E.2d 890 (W.Va. 1969). In United 

Fuel, there was uncertainty regarding the taxability of certain transactions which is not present in 

this matter. As the Circuit Court ruled, West Virginia Code § 16-9D-l et seq. clearly provides 

penalties for the sale of non-approved cigarettes brands and places the burden upon the 

wholesaler to stay apprised of directory listings. R. at 207. Unlike the question of taxability in 
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United Fuel, there is no question in this case that penalties will be imposed. Just as the Circuit 

Court held, "it is inconsequential if Ashland Specialty's internal operations created confusion 

because it was strictly liable for the cigarettes brands it placed into the market." R. at 207. 

Ashland Specialty further relies upon a United States Tax Court memorandum that has a 

legal basis and fact pattern dissimilar to this appeal. Rogers v. Comm'r, T.C. Memo 2016-152, 

2016 WL 4275443 (U.S. Tax Court 2016). In Rogers, the United States Tax Court examined 

whether the taxpayer's failure to timely file an income tax return was due to reasonable cause 

and not willful neglect. The U.S. code section at issue in Rogers specifically provides for a 

penalty exception when "such failure is due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect ... " 

26 U.S.C.A. § 6651. There is no such language present in the West Virginia directory statute. 

In a similar vein to its Rogers argument, the Petitioner cites to a West Virginia Office of 

Hearings and Appeals decision that abated a penalty for consumer sales and service tax. W.Va. 

Tax Dec. No. 90-008 C, 1996 WL 489978 (W.Va. Off. Hrg. App.). Once again, the statute at 

issue in that matter provided for an abatement when "it is shown that such failure is due to 

reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect..." W.Va. Code § 11-10-18. There is no such 

language in the statute at issue in this matter. 

Ashland Specialty's admitted negligence that it attributes to staffing and management 

issues does not provide a basis for a reduction of the penalty because intent or willfulness is not a 

prerequisite to arriving at the penalty. Rather, if a seller sells unauthorized cigarettes, the penalty 

may be imposed without examining the reasons for the unlawful sale. This is especially true in 

light of the taxpayer's status as a serial offender coupled with the fact that the maximum penalty 

allowed was not assessed by the Tax Commissioner. 
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Ashland Specialty's requested relief is additionally inappropriate because any alleged 

mitigating circumstances are irrelevant and undermined by Ashland Specialty's status as a repeat 

offender. When reviewing the historical lack of compliance of Ashland Specialty in regard to the 

directory of approved brands, it is evident that the Circuit Court's reinstatement of the Tax 

Commissioner's assessed penalty was proper. Imposing a reduced penalty for a third infraction 

that exceeded the illegal volume of the first two violations would be inconsistent with the 

intended purpose of the directory statute which is to "safeguard the master settlement agreement 

[payments], the fiscal soundness of the state, and the public health." W.Va. Code § 16-9D-l. 

iv. 	 A penalty reduction or cancellation would be counterproductive to the 
intended purpose ofthe directory statute. 

As stated above, the Circuit Court appropriately concluded that a reduced penalty "would 

be counterproductive to the intended purpose of the directory statute which is to 'safeguard the 

master settlement agreement [payment], the fiscal soundness of state, and the public health. '" R. 

at 202. As the Circuit Court further concluded, the purpose of enforcing a directory of approved 

brands is to do all that can be done within the State's power to ensure that there is no reduction in 

the annual payment the State received from the Master Settlement Agreement. R. at 202. West 

Virginia Code § 16-9D-l specifically provides that directory violations ''threaten the integrity of 

the tobacco master settlement agreement, the fiscal soundness of the state, and the public health." 

Ashland Specialty's act of placing non-approved cigarettes into the West Virginia market 

for a third time if not penalized could threaten the integrity of the MSA and West Virginia's 

annual tobacco payment. As the Circuit Court held, "the original penalty assessment deters the 

public harm that could result from the influx of off-directory cigarettes into the West Virginia 
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marketplace including a possible reduction in West Virginia's annual MSA payment." R. at 202. 

Therefore, reducing or abating the penalty deemed appropriate by the Tax Commissioner would 

certainly be inconsistent with the intended purpose of the legislation. 

The original penalty reinstated by the Circuit Court further protects public health by 

deterring the placement of cigarettes into the market that have not been fully vetted. As the 

Circuit Court held, cigarettes placed on the directory must meet numerous certification 

requirements under the authority of West Virginia Code § 16-9D-4a relating to ownership, 

manufacturing location, federal permits, packaging, ingredient reporting, warning labels, etc. R. 

at 202. The cigarettes placed into the West Virginia marketplace by Ashland Specialty bypassed 

a certification and review rendering the reinstatement of the original penalty appropriate. 

Ashland Specialty inexplicably asserts that a penalty reduction or cancellation for its third 

offense would "further the intended statutory purpose" of the directory statute. Petitioner's Brief, 

pg. 19. In support of this proposition, Ashland Specialty cites to the flawed OTA ruling which 

held that "[ c ]ommon sense tells us the maximum penalty should be reserved for the worst 

offenders... " R. at 277. This argument is based upon the faulty premise that Ashland Specialty 

was subjected to the maximum penalty. One need ~o no more than read West Virginia Code § 

16-9D-8 to realize that the maximum penalty was not imposed. Additionally, the unrebutted 

evidence at OT A demonstrates that Ashland Specialty is one the "worst offenders." Specifically, 

the tax auditor testified that directory violations are "rare." R. at 551. Thus, Ashland Specialty's 

status as a three-time violator makes it one of the worst violators. 

19 




B. 	 The Circuit Court of Kanawha County correctly concluded that the 
Tax Commissioner's original assessed penalty did not violate the 
Excessive Fines Clauses of the United States or West Virginia 
Constitutions. 

The original penalty assessed against Ashland Specialty for selling non-approved 

cigarette brands does not violate the Excessive Fines Clauses of either the United States or the 

West Virginia Constitutions. The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides 

that "[e]xcessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed ... " U.S. Const. amend. 

VIII. Meanwhile, Article 3 of the West Virginia Constitution provides that "[e]xcessive bail shall 

not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." 

W.Va. Const. Art. 3 § 5. As detailed below, the 500 percent penalty imposed upon Ashland 

Specialty for placing illegal cigarettes into the West Virginia marketplace was not excessive and 

the penalty was proper under the totality of the circumstances, which included its history of 

previous and escalating infractions. 

Ashland Specialty asserts that it is not challenging the constitutionality of the directory 

statute itself and is only challenging that statute "as applied to Ashland Specialty." Petitioner's 

Brief, pg. 23. Ashland Specialty's as applied constitutional challenge fails because this Court 

must exercise caution in declaring a penalty assessed within the parameters of West Virginia 

Code § 16-9D-8a to be unconstitutional. This Court has held that "courts must exercise due 

restraint, in recognition of the principle of the separation of powers in government among the 

judicial, legislative and executive branches." Syl. Pt. 1, State ex reI. Appalachian Power Co. v. 

Gainer, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351 (1965). The Supreme Court elaborated that "[i]n 

considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power 
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must appear beyond reasonable doubt." Id. (see also SyI. pt. 1, Lewis v. Canaan Valley Resorts, 

Inc., 185 W.Va. 684, 408 S.E.2d 634 (1991) and SyI. Pt. 1, State ex reI. Blankenship v. 

Richardson, 196 W. Va. 726, 474 S.E.2d 906 (1996)). The Tax Commissioner's exercise of 

discretion cannot be said to be beyond the power conferred by the legislature. 

Ashland Specialty principally relies upon Us. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 118 S.Ct. 

2028 (1998) in support of its claim that the penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner was 

unconstitutionally excessive. There is no disagreement that "[t]he touchstone of the 

constitutional inquiry under the Excessive Fines Clause is the principle of proportionality: The 

amount of the forfeiture must bear some relationship to the gravity of the offense that it is 

designed to punish." Bajakajian at 324. However, Ashland Specialty fails to acknowledge that an 

examination of proportionality brings its past compliance into consideration. In Bajakajian, the 

U.S. Supreme Court concluded that the criminal forfeiture of $357,144 in currency was grossly 

disproportionate to the offense of failing to report exported currency. Bajakajian at 337. Unlike 

Ashland Specialty, Bajakajian was not a three-time offender whose distribution of unapproved 

cigarette brands created potential public safety concerns. 

It its lengthy discussion of Bajakajian, Ashland Specialty also declined to mention the 

Court's discussion that when deriving a constitutional excessiveness standard "judgments about 

the appropriate punishment for an offense belong in the first instance to the legislature." 

Bajakajian at 336 (citing Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 290 (1983) ("Reviewing courts ...should 

grant substantial deference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in 

determining the types and limits of punishments for crimes")). When viewed in light of the West 
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Virginia Legislature's prescribed penalties for distributing non-approved tobacco brands, the 500 

percent penalty imposed upon Ashland Specialty is not grossly disproportionate. 

The West Virginia Constitution also references proportionality and specifically provides 

that "[p]enalties shall be proportional to the character and degree of the offense." W.Va. Const. 

Art. 3 § 5. The imposition of a 500 percent penalty is proportional to the offense because 

Ashland Specialty sold non-approved brands and has done so on previous occasions. R. at 195. 

Ashland Specialty was penalized with a 500 percent penalty for its first two infractions. R. at 

195. Its request for this Court to entirely eliminate the penalty for a third and amplified offense 

lacks any sense of proportion. 

In its brief to this Court, the Petitioner asserts that its history of previous infractions "are 

not factors that determine whether the penalty is unconstitutional." Petitioner's Brief, pg. 23. 

While asking that its history of escalating offenses be ignored, Ashland Specialty is requesting 

this Court to give weight to its bookkeeping failures and staffing issues, for which there is no 

statutory basis. As held by the Circuit Court, "[g]iven that Ashland is asking this Court to 

consider a multitude of extraneous facts in re-examining the Tax Commissioner's discretion, it is 

contradictory for Ashland to argue that the Court should disregard a history of previous 

violations." R. at 201. 

In evaluating the reasonableness of the imposed penalty, it is important to note that the 

Tax Commissioner did not assess the maximum penalty allowable by statute. In its brief, 

Ashland Specialty repeatedly mischaracterizes the original penalty as the "maximum" while 

failing to acknowledge more stringent penalty options provided for in the statute. See W.Va. 

Code § 16-9D-S. Specifically, the Tax Commissioner did not impose the maximum monetary 
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penalty of $61 million and did not revoke Ashland Specialty's business registration certificate, 

which would have taken away its ability to transact business in this State. As the Circuit Court 

concluded, the $159,398.00 assessment is exponentially less than the maximum allowable 

penalty or the monetary ramifications of having its business registration certification revoked. R. 

at 211. 

The nature of the offense is also instructive. The United States Supreme Court has held 

that fines "must bear a proportionate relationship to the gravity of the offense it is designed to 

punish." Bajakajian at 327 (1998). The purpose of enforcing a directory of approved brands is to 

do all that can be done within the State's power to ensure that there is no potential reduction in 

the annual payment the State receives from the Master Settlement Agreement. See W.Va. Code § 

16-9D-1. Ashland Specialty's placement of illegal cigarettes into the West Virginia marketplace 

for a third time threatened West Virginia's ability to safeguard its annual tobacco payment. As 

argued above, Ashland's Specialty further allowed uncertified cigarettes to enter the West 

Virginia marketplace which bypassed requirements pertaining to fire safety, labeling, packaging, 

etc. 

This Court has previously addressed the issue of excessive civil penalties and ultimately 

concluded that "[c]ivil penalties are rarely found to be excessive. This is because statutes 

awarding penalties dictate the minimum and maximum amounts that may be awarded." 

Vanderbilt Mortgage and Finance, Inc. v. Cole, 230 W.Va. 505, 740 S.E.2d 562 (2013). The 

Vanderbilt Court found that the statutory language provided creditors with reasonable warning 

that should they violate the provisions described in West Virginia Code § 46A-5-101(1), they 

may be subject to a civil penalty. Just as the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act 
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detailed potential penalties to mortgage lenders in Vanderbilt, the Complementary Legislation at 

issue delineates the potential penalties that can be imposed upon entities that sell non-approved 

cigarettes brands. That is precisely the situation before this Court. Given the assessment and 

payment of two previous 500 percent penalties (R. at 195), in addition to the clear and 

unambiguous language found in West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a), Ashland Specialty was 

provided with reasonable warning that it would face a sizeable penalty should it again sell non

approved cigarettes brands. 

The United States Supreme Court has also rejected a challenge to a civil penalty alleged 

to be unconstitutional. See St. Louis I.M & S. Ry. Co. v. Williams, 251 U.S. 63 (1919). The 

standard set forth in Williams provides that constitutional challenges to awards of statutory 

penalties must demonstrate that the award is "so severe and oppressive as to be wholly 

disproportioned to the offense and obviously unreasonable." !d. at 67. Petitioner has not and 

cannot demonstrate that the Tax Commissioner's assessment of a 500 percent penalty, which 

falls within the parameters of allowable penalties, meets that high standard especially where the 

maximum allowable monetary penalty was not imposed. 

C. 	 The Circuit Court did not improperly substitute its judgment for that 
of the Office of Tax Appeals when it reinstated the original penalty 
imposed by the West Virginia State Tax Commissioner. 

Contrary to the assertions in the Petitioner's third assignment of error, the Circuit Court 

did not improperly substitu,te its judgment for that of the Office of Tax Appeals. Rather, the 

Circuit Court gave appropriate deference to the original penalty imposed by the State Tax 

Commissioner which was erroneously supplanted by OTA. Ashland Specialty's argument is 

internally inconsistent if not wholly contradictory. On one hand, Ashland Specialty claims that 
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the Circuit Court order is permeated with improper substitution of its judgment for that of OTA. 

On the other hand, Ashland Specialty does not seek reinstatement of the OT A penalty but instead 

seeks its reduction or elimination. 

This Court had held that "[a]n inquiring court-even a court empowered to conduct de 

novo review-must examine a regulatory interpretation of a statute by standards that include 

appropriate deference to agency expertise and discretion." CB&T Operations Co., Inc. v. Tax 

Commissioner oiState, 211 W. Va. 198,564 S.E.2d 408 (2002). Furthermore, "[i]nterpretations 

of statutes by bodies charged with their administration are given great weight unless clearly 

erroneous." Syl. pt. 4, Security Nat. Bank & Trust Co. v. First W Va. Bancorp, Inc., 166 W.Va. 

775, 277 S.E.2d 613 (1981). In this matter, the Tax Commissioner maintains the expertise 

necessary for enforcement of West Virginia's tobacco directory. As the Circuit Court ruled, 

"[t]the delegation of this power to the Tax Commissioner and not to OTA was done by the 

legislature and must be respected." R. at 206. Furthermore, "[t]he Tax Commissioner's authority 

to impose a penalty or penalties provided in the statute brought with it the responsibility to 

ensure compliance with the reporting and other responsibilities placed on cigarette manufacturers 

and those who sell and or distribute cigarettes." R. at 206. Therefore, the Circuit Court's decision 

to reinstate the original penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner is entirely consistent with 

controlling legal authority giving deference to the Tax Commissioner. 

Ashland Specialty further asserts that the Circuit Court erroneously substituted its 

judgment for that ofOTA by ignoring OTA's findings of fact. Ashland Specialty argues that the 

Circuit Court decision is based upon facts not supported by the evidence in the record. This is 

simply not true. The only dispositive fact in this matter is that Ashland Specialty sold cigarettes 
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not appearing in the directory of approved brands and that fact is both well established in the 

record and admitted by the Petitioner. The Circuit Court's failure to weigh the inefficiencies of 

the Petitioner was a legal question subject to de novo review. 

Ashland Specialty takes specific issue with the Circuit Court's determination that its 

"failure to have a system in place which prevented the sale of de-listed cigarettes was not beyond 

its control." R. at 195. However, Ashland Specialty's defense that the mistake was attributable to 

employee absence is irrelevant and are matters in which it could have compensated. 

Ashland Specialty further contests the finding that "uncontroverted evidence establishes 

that following two audits, Ashland Specialty did not correct its behavior." R. at 201. However, 

Ashland Specialty admitted at all levels below and to this Court that it distributed non-approved 

brands. Therefore, its argument that it had an effective system in place to prevent such sales is 

contradicted by its own admissions. Its system was obviously inadequate or the sale of non

approved cigarettes wouldn't have occurred. Ashland Specialty asserts that circumstances out of 

its control frustrated its operation including employee turnover. However, despite the Petitioner's 

attempt to muddy the waters, West Virginia Code § 16-9D-3(b)(3) places the taxpayer on notice 

that it is strictly liable for ensuring that the cigarettes it sells are authorized for sale. 

In further support of its argument that the Circuit Court substituted its judgment for OTA, 

Ashland Specialty points to the fact that the Circuit Court reinstated the Tax Commissioner's 

penalty. However, the Circuit Court following precedent of this Court gave deference to the 

penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner in view of the flexibility accorded to him In 

administrating tobacco enforcement under the plain and unambiguous language of the statute. 
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D. 	 The Circuit Court properly concluded that the original penalty 
imposed by the Tax Commissioner was appropriate and reduction or 
abatement was not warranted. 

In its fourth assignment of error, Ashland Specialty asserts that the Circuit Court erred by 

failing to hold that OT A should have modified the penalty further downward. The Petitioner 

asserts that the penalty should have been modified to near zero percent or entirely abated in light 

of its alleged mitigating factors and constitutional limitations. This assignment of error offers no 

independent legal basis from the other assignments of error asserted by the Petitioner and merely 

restates its previous arguments. As argued above, the Tax Commissioner maintains that OTA 

incorrectly reduced the original penalty and the Circuit Court order reinstating the original 

penalty should be affirmed. 

E. 	 The Petitioner was not denied due process as a result of the transfer to 
Kanawha County. 

Ashland Specialty argues that it was denied due process based upon the Cabell County 

Circuit Court's sua sponte transfer of its appeal to Kanawha County Circuit Court. Despite 

Ashland Specialty filing not one, not two, but three briefs below in support of its appeal, the 

Petitioner asserts that it was "denied the ability to present its argument to the court." Petitioner's 

Brief, pg. 34. However, Ashland Specialty's due process challenge fails because it was given a 

full and fair opportunity to litigate its appeal in a venue that the West Virginia Legislature has 

deemed appropriate. 

Article III, Section 10 of the West Virginia Constitution provides "[n]o person shall be 

deprived oflife, liberty, or property, without due process of law, and the judgment of his peers." 

Ashland Specialty bases its due process challenge on West Virginia Code § 11-10A-19(a), which 
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provides that the taxpayer or the commissioner, or both, may appeal the final decision or order of 

the Office of Tax Appeals by taking an appeal to circuit court. Ashland Specialty fails to cite to 

subsection (c) of West Virginia Code § 11-lOA-19, which provides that "if the taxpayer appeals, 

the appeal may be taken in the circuit court of Kanawha County or any county ... [w ]herein the 

activity sought to be taxed was engaged in or [w]herein the taxpayer resides ... " As a result of 

West Virginia Code § 11-1 OA-19( c), it is difficult for Ashland Specialty to argue that it was 

denied due process when it was able to prosecute its appeal in one of the statutorily prescribed 

venues. 

The Petitioner further relies upon a West Virginia Supreme Court decision which held 

that a party is entitled to due process "before the deprivation [of a right] occurs unless a 

compelling public policy dictates otherwise." North v. West Virginia Bd. ofRegents, 160 W.Va. 

248, 256 (1977). Ashland Specialty's reliance on North is misplaced as this decision actually 

demonstrates that Ashland Specialty was afforded due process. The North Court held that before 

a student could be permanently expelled from a state supported university, the student was 

entitled to due process rights including a formal written notice of charges, sufficient opportunity 

to prepare to rebut the charges, opportunity to have retained counsel for the hearings on the 

charges, to confront his accusers, to present evidence on his own behalf, to have his case heard 

before an unbiased hearing tribunal, and that an adequate record of the proceedings be made. 

North at 256. 

In contrast to North, Ashland Specialty was able to fully litigate its appeal at both OT A 

and the Circuit Court. Ashland Specialty was able to, among other things, challenge the original 

Notice of Assessment with a Petition for Reassessment, create a factual record at OT A, utilize 
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legal counsel, confront Tax Department witnesses, and appeal to the Circuit Court At the Circuit 

Court level, Ashland Specialty was able to file three briefs in addition to proposed Findings of 

Facts and Conclusions of Law. Specifically, Ashland Specialty filed an opening brief in support 

of its Petition for Appeal (Supplemental Appendix at 16), a response to the Tax Commissioner's 

opening brief (R. at 134), and a reply to the Tax Commissioner's response (R. at 171). In light of 

Ashland Specialty's filings wherein it was able to argue its theories to the Circuit Court, Ashland 

Specialty has not been denied due process and was given the full opportunity to present its case. 

Ashland Specialty further failed to avail itself of the opportunity to challenge the venue 

transfer via a writ of prohibition, which this Court has determined appropriate for venue 

challenges. State ex rei. Riffle v. Ranson, 195 W.Va. 121, 464 S.E.2d 763 (1995). Justice 

Cleckley specifically stated that the inadequacy of appellate relief in matters involving "a 

substantial legal issue regarding venue" may require the resolution of such issues through the 

exercise of original jurisdiction. See Id. at 124, 464 S.E.2d at 766. In addition to failing to seek 

relief via a writ of prohibition, Ashland Specialty failed to raise a due process challenge in its 

filings in the Kanawha County Circuit Court. At no time in Kanawha County Circuit Court did 

Ashland Specialty argue that Kanawha County lacked jurisdiction to decide the appeal or that its 

due process rights had been violated by the transfer. 

Assuming arguendo that error was committed when Ashland Specialty's appeal was 

transferred from Cabell County to Kanawha County, such error was waived and is harmless. The 

"Harmless Error" rule, promulgated at Rule 61 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, 

states that "[n]o error .. .is ground for granting a new trial or for setting aside a verdict ... unless 

refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at 
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to Kanawha County was not inconsistent with substantial justice as Kanawha County is a 

statutorily appropriate venue for OT A appeals. Furthermore, Ashland Specialty was able to fully 

participate in the prosecution of its appeal. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Decision of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County complies with West Virginia law. 

Therefore, the State Tax Commissioner requests that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of 

the Circuit Court which reinstated the original penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner. 

Respectfully submitted, 

DALE W. STEAGER, 

STATE TAX COMMISSIONER, 


By Counsel 


PATRICK MORRISEY 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 

KA ERINE A. SCHUL Z SB # 3 
SENIOR DEPUTY ATTORNEY GEN~~ 
CASSANDRA L. MEANS (WVSB# 10522) 
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 
Attorney General's Office 
Building 1, Room W-435 
1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East 
Charleston, West Virginia 25305 
304-558-2522 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


Docket No. 17-0437 


ASHLAND SPECIALTY, 

Petitioner, below PetitionerlRespondent, 

v. 

DALE W. STEAGER, 

STATE TAX COMMISSIONER 

OF WEST VIRGINIA, 


Respondent, below RespondentlPetitioner. 
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I, Katherine A. Schultz, Senior Deputy Attorney General for the State of West Virginia, 

do hereby certify that a true and exact copy of the foregoing "Tax Commissioner's Response 

Brief' was served by depositing the same, postage prepaid in the United States Mail, this 28th 

day of September, 2017, addressed as follows: 

Floyd M. Sayre, III, Esq. 
Bowles Rice LLP 
Post Office Drawer 1419 
Martinsburg, WV 25402 

Mark A. Loyd, Esq. 
Bingham Greenebaum Doll LLP 
3500 National City Tower 
101 South Fifth Street 
Louisville, KY 40202 
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